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Introduction:

The Law Commission’s proposed reforms to insurance law, in particular the pre-contractual and
the post-contractual duty of utmost good faith were published in consultation papers in 2011 and
2012.

Main issues to be covered at this seminar will include:

 The test of materiality.

 Knowledge and the pre-contractual duty of good faith.

 Remedies for failure to observe good faith pre-contract and post-contract.

PART A
Insurance Law Reform: Utmost Good Faith - The Legal Perspective

Peter MacDonald-Eggers QC

PART B
Insurance Law Reform: Utmost Good Faith and the Law Commission’s Proposals

The Underwriter’s Perspective
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The Law Commission - Insurance Contract Law Reform
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PART D
APPENDIX

Insurance Contract Law: The Business Insured’s Duty of
Disclosure and the Law of Warranties: Joint Consultation

Summary
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Project Background
• Insurance Law reform called for 1957, 1980, 1997

and 2005.
• Concern that Law, FSA, FOS and industry practice

inconsistent.
• 2007 Consultation – widespread support consumer

law reform/majority support business reform but no
consensus on terms.

• Desire to separate business from consumers but
retain single business regime including MAT and
R/I.

• MIA 1906 is commercial legislation.



Project Update

• Consumer Insurance (Disclosure and
Representations) Act 2012.

• Reconsult on business insurance 2012.
• Single business regime applicable to wide

spread of interests therefore:-
1. Default regime (as now).  Expectation that some will contract out.
2. Accommodates general market best practice.
3. Neutral outcome – parties placed into position should have been in.
4. Update wording to reflect modern developments.



Consultation 2012
• S 17 Marine Insurance Act 1906 – utmost

good faith.
• S 18 MIA– duty of disclosure.
• S 19 MIA – Brokers’ duty of disclosure.
• S 20 MIA – Representations.
• Ss 33 – 49 MIA – Warranties and Voyage

Conditions.
• Inducement post Pan Atlantic.
• Associated case law.



Current Law - MIA 1906
• Contracts of utmost good faith.
• Proposer must disclose every “material

circumstance” a prudent underwriter wants to
know.

• If questions - “material representations” must
be true.

• Failure to disclose or a misrepresentation –
insurer can avoid policy.  Only statutory
remedy.



Disclosure - What happens
elsewhere?

• Australia – retains duty disclosure but “materiality” as
considered by “reasonable insured” + proportionate
remedies. Marine insurance separate.

• New York – duty of disclosure only for marine and
reinsurance - remedy for “wilful concealment”.

• Eire – retains duty but balanced by a duty on insurers
to carry out reasonable investigations.

• France, Germany, PEICL – insurer must ask
questions.



Consultation Proposals 2007-
Business

• Two policy areas to consider
1) pre-contract.  What is relevant? Who should know

what? How (or who) decide(s) materiality? Who does
what? (R.I. vs P.U.)

2) “remedies” or post contract – what happens if…?
• 2007 Consultation response:-

- 50:50 for changes to materiality tests and even split
insurers and insureds.

- 60:40 for remedies but mixed views.
- The 40% concerned about remedies often proposed

alternatives i.e. “no but….”



Disclosure and materiality
2012

• 2012 consultation followed thrust of 2007
consultation response.  Insufficient support for pre
contract change + difference reasonable insured
advised by reasonably competent broker vs prudent
underwriter likely to be minimal.  Therefore
evolutionary approach:-

• Retain duty of disclosure. Familiar, may reduce cost.
• Retain current law on materiality (prudent underwriter

survives).  Reasonable insured uncertain test.
• Codify inducement (as per consumer bill).  Insurer

must show information relevant to its decision.
• Update S 18 to clarify responsibilities.



Update s18 MIA?
S 18 (1) ….the assured must disclose to the insurer,….every material circumstance which is

known to the assured and the assured is deemed to know every circumstance which, in
the ordinary course of business, ought to be known by him.

S 18(2) Material circumstance = something which would influence judgment of prudent
insurer in fixing premium, or determining whether he will take the risk.

S18 (3) In the absence of enquiry the following circumstances need not be disclosed,
namely:-

(a) Any circumstance which diminishes the risk;
(b) Any circumstance which is known or presumed to be known to the insurer.  The insurer

is presumed to know matters of common notoriety or knowledge, and matters which an
insurer in the ordinary course of his business, as such, ought to know;

(c) Any circumstance as to which information is waived by the insurer;
(d) Any circumstance which it is superfluous to disclose by reason of any express or implied

warranty.

Update  to cover recent case law and phrase in C21st language?  In particular s18 (1)
and (3) (b) and (c).



Policyholder’s obligations
• Policyholder must disclose all information needed  to

give fair presentation of risk – query who and what?
• Who? - “Knowledge” for company = known to Board

and insurance purchasers – e.g. risk manager.
• Policyholder also has duty to disclose information

that would have been discovered by reasonable
proportionate enquiries (i.e. need good system).

• What? - Actual knowledge + “blind eye” knowledge.
• Broker should disclose information obtained as agent

for insured (s19 MIA 1906).
• Align representations (s 20 MIA 1906 ) – facts “ought

to know” – must be true.  Otherwise statement must
be made “in good faith”.



“Fair presentation”

• Fair presentation allows prudent underwriter
either

1. to form a proper judgement whether to
accept risk and on what terms or

2. be sufficiently put on enquiry to ask further
questions

• taking account of type of insurance,
circumstances and manner in which
presentation is made.



Insurer’s Obligations

• “….the proper line that an underwriter should take
….is absolutely to abstain from asking any questions
and leave the assured……….to make full disclosure
of all material facts without being asked. Per LJ
Scrutton 1926

• Appropriate C21st?
• Professional competence?
• Why employ underwriters at all?
• Insurer should expect fair presentation but proposer

can expect competent and knowledgeable
underwriter.



Insurer’s Obligations
• When insurer receives information which would

prompt reasonable underwriter to make further
enquiries cannot rely on failure to disclose what those
enquires would have revealed – (waiver).
Professional competence.

• Policyholder need not disclose matters of
1) common knowledge,
2) matters which insurer writing relevant class should

know,
3) information already known to insurer (underwriters or

agent). IT systems? Solvency II and modelling?



Nothing New?
• Insurance is a contract upon speculation.  …….the underwriter trusts

to his (the proposer’s) reputation, and proceeds upon confidence that
he does not keep back any circumstance in his knowledge, to mislead
the underwriter into a belief that the circumstance does not exist, and
to induce him to estimate the risque, as if it did not exist.

• If he (the underwriter) thought that omission was an objection at the
time, he ought not to have signed the policy with a secret reserve in his
own mind to make it void;  if he dispensed with the information, and
did not think this silence an objection then he cannot make it up now
after the event.
Lord Mansfield 1766 (Carter v Boehm)

• Fair presentation on the one hand and  no “claims underwriting” on the
other.



Remedies

• S17 MIA “…………..if the utmost good faith be not
observed by either party, the contract may be
avoided by the other party”

• Brutal but simple.
• Arguably imposes disclosure discipline but…
• Must over or under compensate insurer.
• Much criticised by judges and commentators.
• Quite limited support in 2007 and 2012 consultations.
• Often not followed.
• Not very mutual in practice.



“Proportional” Solution?
• Follows inducement – “OK.  What would you

have done?”
• Seek to restore parties to position should

have been in e.g. -
• Claim will not be paid if insurer would not

have accepted risk or imposed exclusion.
• Claim may be paid in part if insurer would

have imposed different limits or charged
higher premium.



Fault/Issues
• If non-disclosure or misrepresentation is deliberate or

reckless – avoid.
• Otherwise apply proportional remedy – reason for

error not relevant.  Different to consumer Act.
• Default regime as now.  Freedom of contract applies.
• Good faith continues as interpretative principle.
• Uncertainty?  Yes – more apparent than real.  Courts

very familiar with “what if?” elsewhere.
• Subscription market.  Will require guidance – follows

inducement.



Where next?
• Support for 2012 proposals generally between 70 –

90%.
• Broad spread of market opinion.
• Will prepare final report and draft bill 2013.
• Report draft bill will also include warranties, fraud

and late payment provisions.
• Discussing with HMT whether bill slot would be

available in 2014.
• Anticipate using House of Lords procedure for

uncontroversial Law Commission bills.
• Progress will depend on Parliamentary time.



Insurance Law Reform:
Utmost Good Faith

The legal perspective

Peter MacDonald Eggers QC
7 King’s Bench Walk



Marine Insurance Act 1906

• Sections 17-20
• Declaratory of the common law (pre-1906)
• Applicable to non-marine insurance
• Sect. 17: states general principle

- Contract “based upon the utmost good faith”
- Reciprocal duty
- Remedy: avoidance



Sect. 18
Marine Insurance Act 1906

• Concerns assured’s duty of pre-contractual disclosure
• Material circumstances

– Which would influence judgment of a prudent insurer
• Knowledge:

– Known to the assured or
– Deemed to be known to the assured (which the assured ought to know

in the ordinary course of business)
• Exceptions:

– Diminish risk
– Known or presumed to be known to the insurer
– Insurer waived disclosure
– Disclosure superfluous because of a warranty

• Inducement
– Pan Atlantic v Pine Top (1994)

• Sect. 19: broker’s duty of disclosure



Sect. 20
Marine Insurance Act 1906

• Material misrepresentation:
– Representation of fact, expectation or belief
– Representation is false

• Fact: substantially untrue
• Expectation or belief: otherwise than in good faith

• Inducement
– Pan Atlantic v Pine Top (1994)



Issues concerning good faith
• Problems:

– Limited remedy
– Not proportionate or flexible
– Potentially harsh
– One-sided

• No serious criticism of the duty itself
• Law reform should concentrate on the remedy:

– Wider range of remedies
– Judicial discretion

• Misrepresentation Act 1967 as blueprint for
reform?



Law Commission’s Insurance Project

• Consumer Insurance (Disclosure and
Representations) Act 2012

• Law Commission Consultation Paper no. 201
(Dec 2011)
– Post-contractual duty

• Law Commission Consultation Paper no. 204
(June 2012)
– Business Insurance: Pre-contractual duty



Law Commission’s Insurance Project

• Consultation Paper no. 204: problems with the
current law on pre-contractual disclosure:
– Policyholders do not understand what information is

required by the duty of disclosure
– It is unclear whose knowledge within a large

organisation is relevant
– Insurers have insufficient incentive to ask questions

when writing the risk: leads to passive underwriting
– Remedy is harsh



Law Reform

• Law Commission’s proposals focus on:
– Materiality
– Knowledge
– Remedies



Materiality:
Current Law

• Sect. 18(2) and 20(2):
– “would influence the judgment of a prudent insurer in

... determining whether he will take the risk”
• Pan Atlantic v Pine Top (1994):

– “would have been taken into account by the
underwriter when assessing the risk”

• Is an objective relevance required?
– No: The Moonacre (1992)
– Yes: O’Kane v Jones (2003)

• Is materiality required in cases of fraud?



Materiality:
Law Commission’s recommendations:

• Overall, the duty in sect. 18(1) to remain
• Materiality should be clarified in legislation and specify

that
– a material circumstance is a circumstance required to provide a

fair presentation of the risk and
– a fair presentation should include

• the disclosure of any unusual or special circumstances which
increase the risk

• any particular concerns about the risk which led the assured to
seek the insurance, and

• standard information which market participants generally
understand should be disclosed

• Inducement: included in legislation



Materiality:
Potential Issues

• It sensibly avoids the difficulties of a prudent
insurer or a reasonable insured test

• However, there may yet be difficulties of defining
a “fair presentation of the risk”
– This phrase normally explains the net effect

interaction between the duty of full disclosure and the
exception of waiver



Materiality:
Potential Issues

• Problems of identifying classes of material information
– Information which is not relevant may become disclosable

• Particular concerns of the assured:
– What if the concerns are baseless or unreal?

– Information which falls outside the specified categories
might still be relevant to an assessment of the risk:

• Special circumstances increasing the risk:
– Excludes information which alters the character of the risk
– There is already an exception where the circumstance

diminishes the risk

• Materiality as applied to the insurer’s duty?



Knowledge: Current Law

• Sect. 18(1):
– “the assured must disclose to the insurer ... every material circumstance

which is known to the assured”

• Actual knowledge
• Constructive or deemed knowledge

– “assured is deemed to know every circumstance which, in the ordinary
course of business, ought to be known by him”

– Refers to the “ordinary course” of the assured’s business, not the
ordinary course of business of a reasonable person in the position of the
assured:

• ANZ v Colonial & Eagle (1960)
• Simner v New India (1995)
• ERC Frankona v American National (2005)



Knowledge: Current Law

• Imputed knowledge: assured’s agents
– Brokers: sect. 19
– Agents in charge of subject matter insured
– General agents
– Is this in fact a separate category of knowledge?

• Simner v New India Assurance (1995)
• Group Josi v Walbrook (1996)

• Sect. 18(3)(b): insurer’s knowledge as an exception:
– Actual knowledge
– Common knowledge
– Deemed knowledge:

• “The insurer is presumed to know matters of common notoriety or
knowledge, and matters which an insurer in the ordinary course of his
business, as such, ought to know”

– Imputed knowledge?



Knowledge:
Law Commission’s recommendations

• Assured:
– Who possesses the relevant knowledge? Includes:

• The directing mind and will of an organisation, where the
assured is other than an individual

• The persons who arranged the insurance on behalf of the
organisation

– What type of knowledge is relevant?
• The assured’s actual knowledge, including “blind eye”

knowledge
• Information that would have been discovered by reasonable

enquiries, which are proportionate to the type of insurance
and to the size, nature and complexity of the business



Knowledge:
Law Commission’s recommendations

• Broker’s knowledge: sect. 19
– To include producing brokers [it is currently limited to placing brokers]
– Repeal sect. 19(b): the broker must disclose

• “Every material circumstance which the assured is bound to disclose, unless
it come to his knowledge too late to communicate it to the agent”

• Insurer’s knowledge: assured need not disclose:
– Common knowledge
– Practices and risks of trade which a well-informed insurer ought to know
– Information actually known to (a) directing mind and will and (b) the

underwriters
– Information held by agent which ought to be communicated to the

underwriter



Knowledge:
Potential Issues

• No difficulty with who possesses relevant knowledge
– However, it may not provide the desired clarity

• Potential issues:
– Reasonable enquiries:

• May put assured and insurer on unequal footing
• Enlarges scope of assured’s duty

– No discussion of imputed knowledge
– Sect. 19(b)



Remedies: Current Law
• Breach of pre-contractual duty:

– Avoidance: sect. 17, 18 and 20
– No Damages:

• Banque Keyser v Skandia (1989)

• Post-contractual breaches:
– Avoidance
– Forfeiture
– Agapitos v Agnew (2002)
– Axa v Gottlieb (2005)

• Remedies for other causes of action:
– Misrepresentation
– Deceit



Pre-contractual remedies:
Law Commission Recommendations

• If assured acted fraudulently in not making full and accurate
disclosure, the insurer may avoid the contract and retain the
premium.

• If assured acted other than fraudulently, and
– If insurer would not have entered into the contract at all had full and accurate

disclosure been made, insurer may avoid the contract
– If insurer would not have entered into the contract on the same terms (other than

as to premium), the contract is to be treated as if it included those terms
– If insurer would have entered into the contract on the same terms but at a higher

premium, the amount to be paid on a claim under the insurance contract is to be
reduced proportionately

• Where the insurer is entitled to apply such remedies, the insurer
should be entitled to cancel the insurance contract for the future.



Pre-contractual remedies:
Potential Issues

• The principal remedy is avoidance or a re-writing of the
insurance contract
– Has no regard to whether the re-written contract would have been

acceptable to the assured

• Special provision for fraud:
– Knowledge and intention will now become integral to such questions
– Irrespective of whether the fraud had a substantial impact on the

underwriter’s decision

• Right of cancellation in many cases will have little value
• Out of step with the ordinary law of misrepresentation

– Misrepresentation Act 1967



Post-contractual remedies: Law Commission
recommendations

• Forfeiture of whole claim tainted by fraud
• Forfeiture of future claims arising after the date

of the fraud
• Fraud should not affect claims arising before the

date of the fraud
• Insurer has right to recover reasonable

investigation costs as damages
• No avoidance



Post-contractual remedies:
Potential Issues

• Public policy supports a stringent approach towards
insurance fraud
– Chapman v Pole (1870)
– Galloway v Guardian Royal Exchange (1999)

• The deterrent effect reduces towards the expiry of the
policy

• Compensation:
– Useful remedy
– Damages may also be recoverable via tort of deceit



Misrepresentation Act 1967:
Blueprint for reform?

• Damages remedy for negligent and fraudulent
misrepresentation

• Discretionary damages remedy for innocent
misrepresentations

• Judicial discretion to disallow avoidance except
in cases of fraud
– Nature of misrepresentation
– Loss caused by misrepresentation
– Loss caused by rescission
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